
AGENDA

CABINET MEETING
Date: Monday, 4 July 2016
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: Maidstone Town Hall, High Street, Maidstone, Kent, ME14 1TF

Membership:

Councillors Bowles (Chairman), Mike Cosgrove, Duncan Dewar-Whalley, Alan Horton, 
Gerry Lewin (Vice-Chairman), Ken Pugh and David Simmons.

Quorum = 3 

RECORDING NOTICE

Please note: The public proceedings of the meeting will be broadcast live and recorded for 
playback on the Maidstone Borough Council website.

At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being webcast.  
The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are confidential or exempt items.

You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data 
collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s data retention policy.

Therefore by entering the Chamber and speaking at Committee you are consenting to being 
recorded and to the possible use of those recordings for training purposes.

If you have any queries regarding this please contact Democratic Services.

Pages

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other 
material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or person with 
whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They must declare and 
resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in respect 
of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 2011.  The 
nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared.  After 
declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and not take part in the 

Public Document Pack



discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct adopted 
by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence of any such 
interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, the Member may 
stay, speak and vote on the matter.

(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, having 
considered the facts would conclude that there was a real possibility that the 
Member might be predetermined or biased the Member should declare their 
predetermination or bias and then leave the room while that item is considered.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the existence or 
nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any item on this agenda, 
he/she should seek advice from the Director of Corporate Services as 
Monitoring Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services 
as early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting.
 

Part B Report for Decision by Cabinet

3. Mid Kent Services Governance Arrangements 1 - 60

Issued on Thursday, 23 June 2016

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available in alternative formats. 
For further information about this service, or to arrange for special facilities to be provided at 
the meeting, please contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Cabinet, please visit www.swale.gov.uk

Director of Corporate Services, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT



Cabinet Meeting 

Co-located meeting with Maidstone BC Policy & Resources 
Committee and Tunbridge Wells BC Cabinet 

Agenda Item: 3 

Meeting Date 4 July 2016 

Report Title Mid Kent Services Revised Governance Arrangements 

Cabinet Member Cllr Andrew Bowles, Cabinet Member for Shared Services 

SMT Lead Abdool Kara, Chief Executive 

Head of Service John Scarborough, Head of Legal Partnership 

Lead Officer Estelle Culligan, Deputy Head of Legal Partnership 

Key Decision No 

Classification Open 

Forward Plan  Yes 

Recommendations 1. To agree the revised Mid Kent Services (MKS) 
objectives and strategic priorities as set out in 
paragraph 2.5 below. 

2. To agree the revised MKS Governance Arrangements, 
and to give delegated authority to the Chief Executive 
to sign the document. 

3. To agree the model MKS Shared Service 
Collaboration Agreement template. 

4. To agree to authorise the Head of Legal Partnership, 
in consultation with the Leader as Cabinet Member for 
Shared Services and the Chief Executive, to make any 
further minor amendments as necessary to the 
documents described in 2 and 3 above. 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report presents the amendments to the Governance Arrangements for Mid 

Kent Services, and the model Shared Services Collaboration Agreement. 
 
1.2 These amendments have been discussed and agreed by the MKS Chief 

Executives and the MKS Board, with input and advice from the Director of Shared 
Services, s151 Officers, and Monitoring Officers. 

 
1.3 Formal approval of the documents is now required from Swale, Maidstone and 

Tunbridge Wells BCs’ appropriate decision making bodies. 
 
1.4 Cabinet has authority to make the decisions on behalf of Swale BC. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
1.5 In order to ensure consideration of the issues by the three Councils 

simultaneously, a co-located meeting will take place on 4 July, comprising Swale 
BC Cabinet, Maidstone BC Policy & Resources Committee, and Tunbridge Wells 
BC Cabinet. 

 

2 Background 
 
Governance Arrangements 
 
2.1 The Agreement covering the Governance Arrangements for the Mid Kent 

Improvement Partnership (MKIP), now called Mid Kent Services (MKS), was 
originally prepared in 2008.  It was updated in 2012, and stated to be for a period 
of another four years.  That period expired 30 April this year. 

 
2.2 With the passage of time, the experience of managing shared services, and the 

increased number of shared services, it has become apparent that the document 
needed to be revised.  The main changes which members are requested to note 
are set out below: 

 
2.3 The arrangements are now permanent, where previously they were for a fixed 

period of four years. 
 
2.4 With the move to permanent arrangements, the arrangements are now subject to 

termination provisions, which are linked to the termination provisions in the model 
Shared Service Collaboration Agreement. 

 
2.5 The MKS Objectives and Strategic Priorities have been updated to more 

accurately reflect the current intentions of the councils in operating shared 
services. 

The revised Objectives are to: 

(A) improve the quality of service to communities; 

(B) improve the resilience of service delivery; and 

(C) deliver efficiency savings in the procurement, management and delivery of 
services. 

The revised Strategic Priorities are to: 

(A) explore opportunities for income generation; 

(B) promote cross-organisation working; and 

(C) promote digital transformation of services. 
 
2.6 The procedure rules of the MKS Board have been revised to accurately reflect 

how it now operates; for example, decisions must now be taken by consensus, 
not majority vote as previously. 

 

Page 2



Model Collaboration Agreement 
 
2.7 Each shared service is also covered by an individually written collaboration 

agreement. 
 
2.8 A precedent agreement for this has never previously been prepared.  This led to 

differences in the approach to each collaboration agreement. 
 
2.9 External legal advice has been obtained to inform the content of the collaboration 

agreements.  The model agreement incorporates this advice. 
 
2.10 The two documents – the Governance Arrangements and the model 

Collaboration Agreement – now tie into each other, and more accurately reflect 
the current governance structure of MKS. 

 
2.11 Both documents will be kept under regular review. 
 

3 Proposal 
 
3.1 The MKS Board does not have decision making powers on behalf of each 

Council. 
 
3.2 It is therefore necessary for members to approve the amended documents, and 

give authority to the Chief Executive to sign the Agreement for the Governance 
Arrangements on behalf of Swale BC. 

 

4 Alternative Options 
 
4.1 An alternative option of not agreeing the amended documents is not really 

possible.  Without a governance document in some form, MKS can continue to 
function and be managed through the Shared Service Boards, the Chief 
Executives, and the MKS Board.  However, as time goes on, there is a noticeable 
difference between the contents of the current documents (which are out of date) 
and how the management of MKS operates in practice.  In addition, MKS and the 
shared services need clear and up-to-date governance documents, so all parties 
understand clearly their role within MKS, and how decisions are made. 

 
4.2 Members could decide that they do not wish to approve the documents in their 

proposed form, and wish to revise/amend them.  There has been a lot of 
consideration and input into the revised documents, and they now better reflect 
current operating practice.  In addition, any changes proposed would need to be 
agreed by all three Councils. 

 
4.3 However, in order to accommodate any minor changes considered necessary, it 

is proposed that delegated authority be given to the Head of Legal Partnership, in 
consultation with the Leader, as Cabinet Member for Shared Services, and the 
Chief Executive, to make those amendments. 

Page 3



 
4.4 In the event that any major changes are proposed, officers would carry out further 

work on the documents and bring back a second report to all three Councils in 
the future. 

 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 
5.1 The revised documents have been considered and discussed by relevant 

members and officers, including: the MKS Board, Leaders of each Council, 
relevant Portfolio Holders, the three Chief Executives, the Director of Shared 
Services, the Monitoring Officers, and the s151 Officers. 

 

6 Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan 
Implications 

The governance of MKS directly relates to one of the three themes 
in the Corporate Plan – “A Council to be Proud of”.  The theme 
includes commitments to continue to achieve better results at lower 
costs, and to sustain effective partnerships.  The effective 
governance of MKS supports these commitments. 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 
Implications 

The s151 officers have been consulted throughout the process of 
revising the documents. 

Legal and Statutory 
Implications 

The Monitoring Officers have been consulted throughout the 
process of revising the documents. 

Crime and Disorder 
Implications 

None specific to this report. 

Sustainability 
Implications 

None specific to this report. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 
Implications 

None specific to this report. 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety Implications 

The Head of the Audit Partnership has been consulted and his 
comments taken into account in finalising this report. 

Equality and 
Diversity 
Implications 

None specific to this report. 

 
 
 
 

Page 4



7 Appendices 
 
7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 

report: 

 Appendix I: Agreement for the Governance Arrangements of Mid Kent 
Services 

 Appendix ll: Mid Kent Services Model Collaboration Agreement 
 

8 Background papers 
 
8.1 None. 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix I 

 

DATED 

------------ 

AGREEMENT 

GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR MID KENT SERVICES 

between 

 

MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

And 

 

SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

And 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



Appendix I 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated  

PARTIES 

 

(1) Maidstone Borough Council of Maidstone House, Kings Street, Maidstone 
ME15 6JQ. (“MBC”). 
 

(2) Swale Borough Council of Swale House East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent 

ME10 3HT (“SBC”) 

 
(3) Tunbridge Wells Borough Council of Civic Building. Mount Pleasant Road, 

Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent TN1 1RS (“TWBC”). 
 

Collectively known as “The Authorities” 

 

1 BACKGROUND 
 
These arrangements are made pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972, 
the Local Government Act 2000 and the Localism Act 2011.The Authorities 
have agreed to work together as Mid Kent Services. Each Authority 
determined by resolution to establish a collaborative partnership to become 
effective from September 2008 for the purposes of developing shared 
services across their administrative areas. 

 
1.1 The arrangements were originally established as the Mid Kent Improvement 

Partnership (MKIP) and operated for an initial period of four years. The 
arrangements were revised and extended for four years in 2012. With effect 
from the date of this Agreement, the arrangements will be known as “Mid Kent 
Services” (MKS).  

1.2 The Authorities wish to record the basis on which they collaborate  with each 

other. This Agreement sets out: 

(a) the key objectives of Mid Kent Services and 

(b) the governance structures of Mid Kent Services, and 

1.3 This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements 

 
2 DEFINITIONS 
 
2.1 Administrative Area’ means the local government areas of the Authorities. 
 
2.2 “Agreement” means this Agreement and its appendices. 
 
2.3 “Authority” means each individual local council which has signed this 

Agreement. “Authorities” means the collective group of local councils. 
 
2.4 “Collaboration Agreement” means the individual Agreement which governs 

each Service 
 

Page 8



Appendix I 

 

2.5 ‘Decision’ means a decision taken by each Authority under its individual 
constitutional arrangements. 

 
2.6 “Financial Principles” means the management of finances both within and 

outside the annual budget setting timetable of each Authority as set out in 
Appendix B 

 
2.7 ‘Joint Service’ is one where each of the Authorities employs its own staff but 

the service is provided jointly by all the Authorities or by two or more 
Authorities.  

 
2.7 ‘“Lead “Authority’ means the Authority appointed by the Parties under these 

arrangements to administer MKS.  
 
2.8 ‘MKS Board’ means the Leaders and Chief Executives of each of the 

Authorities. 
 
2.9 “Party” and Parties” means a party or parties to this Agreement 
 
2.10 ‘Proposal’ means a business case to be developed for consideration by each 

of the Authorities. 
 
2.11 ‘Recommendation’ means a matter agreed by the MKS Board and put 

forward for Decision by each Authority individually. 
 
2.12 ‘Shared Service’ means a service delivering functions as agreed by two or 

more of the Authorities where all or part of the service is managed (and 
employed) by a single Authority. 

 
2.13 “Shared Service Board” means the Board appointed by the MKS Board to 

manage each Service. 
 
2.14 “Service” means a Joint or Shared Service. 

3 OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
 
3.1 The objectives of MKS are as follows: 
 

A To improve the quality of service to communities 
 

B To improve the resilience of service delivery 
 

C To deliver efficiency savings in the procurement, management and delivery 
of services 

 
3.2 The strategic priorities of MKS are as follows: 
 

A To explore opportunities for income generation 
 

B To promote cross-organisation working 
 

C To promote digital transformation of services 

Page 9



Appendix I 

 

 
4 GOVERNANCE 

4.1  MKS Board Membership 

The MKS Board provides overall strategic oversight and direction to  the 
Services. The MKS Board group will consist of: 
 
MBC: Leader of the Authority and the Chief Executive. Director(s) will be 
invited as required. Substitute for the Leader will be the Vice Chairman of 
Policy and Resources Committee 
 
SBC: Leader of the Authority and Chief Executive. Director(s) will be invited 
as required. Substitute for the Leader will be the relevant Cabinet member. 
 
TWBC: Leader of the Authority and Chief Executive. Director(s) will be invited 
as required. Substitute for the Leader will be the relevant Cabinet member. 
 

4.2   Terms of Reference 
  

The terms of reference for the MKS Board are set out in Appendix A. The 
terms of reference will be reviewed annually by the MKS Board. 

 
4.3 Frequency of Meetings 
 
 The MKS Board will meet quarterly at a time and place agreed by its 

members, who may change the frequency of meetings and call additional 
meetings as required. 

 
4.4. Agenda Setting and Access to Meetings and Information 
 
 The agenda of the MKS Board shall be agreed by the Chairman following a 

briefing by officers of the Authorities.  Any member of the Board may require 
that an item be placed on the agenda of the next available meeting for 
consideration, and may call for a meeting to be held. 

 
 The Parties are committed to open and transparent working. Each party will 

ensure proper scrutiny through the arrangements of each Authority, within 
each Authority’s own governance arrangements. Minutes of the MKS Board 
and the Shared Service Boards will be published on Modern.Gov and/or on 
the Authorities’ internet or intranet sites. MKS Board minutes will be available 
to view publicly. Minutes of the Shared Service Boards will be available to 
view internally only. 

 
4.5  Chairing Meetings 
 
 The Chairman and Vice Chairman of the MKS Board will be the Leaders of 

the Parties appointed on the basis of the position being rotated annually, as 
follows: 

   Chairman  Vice Chairman 
 
   Tunbridge Wells Maidstone 
   Maidstone   Swale 
   Swale   Tunbridge Wells 
        

Page 10



Appendix I 

 

 In the absence of the Chairman and the Vice Chairman at a meeting the 
meeting will elect a Chairman for that meeting who shall be a Leader. 

 
 The quorum for the MKS Board will be five with at least one person present 

from each of the Parties. 
 
 The MKS Board may approve rules for meetings and procedures from time to 

time. The Chairman will also act as the Lead Authority for MKS.  
 
4.6 Decision Making 
 
 The MKS Board does not have decision making powers. Decisions must be 

referred to the individual Authorities’ decision making bodies. At the date of 
this Agreement, these bodies are Cabinet for TWBC and SBC and Policy & 
Resources Committee for MBC. 

 
 Recommendations from the MKS Board will be made by consensus.  Votes 

will normally be by way of a show of hands.   
 
 The MKS Board may develop Proposals and make Recommendations for a 

new Service between two or more of the Authorities. When this is the case, 
consensus will only be required by the Authorities setting up that Service. 

 
 The Authorities that did not take part in a Service at inception may do so at a 

later date subject to a Recommendation from the MKS Board and a Decision 
by all the Authorities involved in the Service. Any costs associated with joining 
later would be agreed between the Authorities and recorded by an 
amendment to the Collaboration Agreement. 

 
5 WORK PROGRAMME 
 
 The MKS Work Programme shall be reviewed annually in September. The 

MKS Board will set the work programme he MKS Board will annually set a 
cycle of its meetings to fit into the annual timetable of meetings of each 
Authority (e.g. budget setting etc.) 

 
6 LEAD AUTHORITY 
 
 The Authorities will appoint a Lead Authority. which is, for the time being, the 

Authority providing the Chairman of the MKS Board. 
 
 Any external support to develop business cases may be funded from the MKS 

budget with a Lead Director for each business case appointed from among 
the Authorities.   

 
7 BUDGETARY ARRANGEMENTS 
 
 A dedicated budget has been established to support the work of MKS and will 

be overseen by the MKS Board. The day to day management of the budget 
will be the responsibility for the MKS Support Officer. The MKS Financial 
Principles are set out at appendix B 

 
 Each Authority originally made a per-head-of-population contribution to MKS.  

This funding was used to establish a budget to enable external advice to be 
sought (when required) to ensure initiatives are progressed in a timely 

Page 11



Appendix I 

 

manner and to explore external funding. The payment will be made on (1 
April) of each year. 

 
 The initial contribution to the budget was 30p per head of population per 

annum using the most up to date population estimates at the time. These 
contributions will be reviewed and updated as necessary every three years. 
Any funds that are not spent or committed at the year end will be returned 
based on the proportions outlined above or carried over, as agreed by MKS 
Board. 

 
 MBC will be the accountable body for MKS, will manage the financial 

arrangements and will hold the budget. This administration will not be funded 
from the MKS budget at this stage as the annual cost is expected to be 
minimal, but will be subject to review on an annual basis. 

 
 The cost of implementing any Recommendation, Proposal or Decision will be 

dealt with separately between the Authorities which are taking the initiative 
forward.  

 
8 NEW MEMBERSHIP  
  
 Other councils, or public bodies, may join MKS provided that the Executive, 

relevant Committee and/or Council of the joining Council and the Authorities 
are unanimously in agreement. 

 
9 PROJECT BOARDS 
 
 When developing a new Service, the MKS Board will establish a Project 

Board to develop it as appropriate.  
 
 The MKS Board will agree:– 
 

 Outline scope and timescales; 

 Size and membership of the Project Board including any external 
advisors; 

 Period of operation; 

 Budget for the Project; 

 Tolerances for cost, quality and timescales 

 Success criteria for the Project 

 Mechanisms for hosting the Project and sharing the cost amongst the 
Authorities involved in the Service. 

 
 The Project Board including Lead Director (or other senior officer) will develop 

a Business Case for the new Service for approval first by the MKS Board and 
by subsequent approval through Decisions taken by each Authority. 

 
 Projects will be carried out in accordance with any agreed project framework 

that the MKS Board has adopted.  Whether in line with any adopted 
framework or not the MKS Board may request an update and/or take 
decisions relating to a project if it determines that changes need to be made 
or it is not satisfied with project performance. All Project Boards will consider 
the questions set out in the document “Ten Questions for Projects” set out in 
Appendix D. 

 

Page 12



Appendix I 

 

10 SHARED SERVICE BOARDS 
  
 For each Service a Shared Service Board shall be appointed to govern the 

Service.  
 Each Authority will nominate an officer to act as “client” and sit on the Shared 

Service Board.  
 General Terms of reference for all Shared Service Boards are set out in 

Appendix C 
 Each Service will be subject to a Collaboration Agreement, based on the 

model Collaboration Agreement set out at Appendix E.  
 
11 ESCALATION 
 
 In the event of one or more of the Authorities being dissatisfied with any 

aspect of the overarching governance arrangements of MKS or any aspect of 
this Agreement, the issues will first be discussed by the Heads of Paid 
Service. 

 
 If the issue cannot be resolved within a reasonable period of time, the matter 

shall be escalated to the MKS Board, which shall decide on the appropriate 
course of action to take.  

 
If agreement on the matter cannot be reached between those parties or at the 
MKS Board meeting, the parties may appoint an external independent 
mediator to resolve the issue. Costs of the mediator will be shared equally 
between the parties.   
 
In the event that agreement cannot be reached having followed those 
procedures then the arbitration clause 12 below will be followed. 

  
Each individual Service will have its own escalation arrangements   set out in 
the Collaboration Agreement   

 
12 ARBITRATION 
  
 Any dispute between the Authorities relating to these overarching governance 

arrangements of this Agreement which has not been resolved in accordance 
with the Escalation procedure where appropriate may on written notice from 
one party in the dispute to the other party(ies) in the dispute be referred to a 
single arbitrator to be agreed between the Parties  

 
 Where no agreement can be reached and having regard to the nature of the 

dispute the matter will be referred to an arbitrator nominated by the chairman 
of the Local Government Association and will be carried out in accordance 
with the provisions of the Arbitration Act 1996 as amended, modified and in 
force for the time being. 

 
 Each individual Service will have its own Arbitration arrangements set out in 

the Collaboration Agreement. 
 

13 TERM AND TERMINATION 

  
This Agreement shall commence on the date of signature by the Parties. 

 

Page 13



Appendix I 

 

 The Agreement is intended as a statement of the permanent arrangements 
between the Authorities in respect of shared and joint working. 

 
 Any Party may terminate its participation in the Agreement at any time by 

giving no less than six months’ notice to the other Parties. 
 
 On any  Authority ceasing to be a party to this Agreement, it may continue to 

be a Party to any Collaboration Agreement for any Service of which it is a 
Party subject to consensus agreement of the Parties. If it is agreed that the 
Party also ceases to be a party to any Collaboration Agreement, the 
termination provisions in the particular Collaboration Agreement will apply.  

 
 On termination by one Party, this Agreement shall continue unless the 

remaining Parties take the Decision to terminate.   
 
 Termination of this Agreement may occur by consensus Decision of all the 

Parties, taken by a joint meeting of the Decision making bodies of each 
Authority. In the event of termination, the Parties will work together to 
disaggregate the Services. The relevant termination provisions in each 
Collaboration Agreement will apply to the termination of each Service. 

 
14 DATA PROTECTION, FREEDOM OF INFORMATION, INFORMATION 

SHARING AND CONFIDENTIALITY.  
 
 Subject to the specific requirements of this clause, each of the Authorities 

shall comply with its legal requirements under data protection legislation, 
freedom of information and associated legislation, and the law relating to 
confidentiality. 

 
 Each Authority involved with the development of a Proposal or delivery of a 

Service will ensure compliance with any legislative or legal requirements. 
 
 Each Authority shall:- 
 
(a) treat as confidential all information relating to: 
 

the business and operations of the other Authorities and/or 
the business or affairs of any legal or natural person in relation to which or to 
whom confidential information was held by that Party (‘Confidential 
Information’) 

 
(b)  not disclose the Confidential Information of any other of the Parties without 

the owner’s prior written consent 
 
 Clauses (a) and (b) shall not apply to the extent that: 
 

such information was in the possession of the Party making the disclosure, 
without obligation of confidentiality, prior to its disclosure; or 
 

 such information was obtained from a third party without obligation of 
confidentiality; or 
 
such information was already in the public domain at the time of disclosure 
otherwise than through a breach of these arrangements; or disclosure is 

Page 14



Appendix I 

 

required by law (including under Data Protection Legislation, the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004). 

 
 Publication of the information is required in the interests of transparency and 

openness of local government. 
  
 Subject to the clauses above, The Authorities may only disclose confidential 

information of another of the Authorities to staff who need to know by reason 
of their work.  Each of the Authorities shall ensure that such staff are aware 
of, and comply with, these confidentiality obligations and that such information 
is not used other than for the purposes of MKS. 

 
 If any of the Authorities receives a request for information relating to the 

Services or relating to this Agreement under the Freedom of Information Act 
2000, the Data Protection Act 1998 and/or the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 then the other Authorities shall (at their own expense) 
assist and co-operate to enable the request to be dealt with. 

 
 It shall be the Authority receiving the request that is responsible for 

determining at its absolute discretion how to reply to the request. 
 
15  COMMUNICATIONS 
 
 All communications about the work of MKS will be published jointly and 

agreed with the Chairman of the MKS Board following discussions with the 
Authorities. The MKS Communication Plan will be discussed and agreed by 
the MKS board. Any press enquiries will be circulated initially to the Chief 
Executives in consultation with Leaders for consideration.  

 
16 EXERCISE OF STATUTORY AUTHORITY 
 
 Without prejudice to these arrangements, nothing in these arrangements shall 

be construed as a fetter or restriction on the exercise by any of the Authorities 
of their statutory functions.  The Authorities may continue to provide the whole 
or any part of a Service at their own cost.  

 
17 CODES OF CONDUCT AND EXPENSES 
 
 The Authorities will be required to follow their own Councillor and Officer 

Codes of Conduct at all times and in particular if any individual is speaking on 
behalf of, or representing the views of, MKS. 

 
 Any expenses incurred by an individual member of the MKS Board in 

undertaking their duties for Board will be met by that member’s Authority.  
 
18 SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS 
 
 Overview and Scrutiny arrangements will be undertaken individually by each 

of the Authorities when the Parties consider Proposals and 
Recommendations from the MKS Board. In addition, each Authority may 
arrange for scrutiny of all or any part of the MKS arrangements either 
separately or jointly with the other Authorities.  

 
 
 

Page 15



Appendix I 

 

19 AMENDMENTS TO THIS AGREEMENT 
 
 These arrangements will be reviewed on an annual basis and may be 

amended by a Recommendation of the MKS Board and subsequent Decision 
by The Authorities. 

 

20   GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

  
 This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with 

English law and, without affecting the Escalation procedure set out in clause 
11 each party agrees to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of 
England and Wales. 

 
Signed on behalf of  
Maidstone Borough Council 

 

 
 
 
 
Authorised Signatory 

 

  
  
  
 
 
Signed on behalf of  
Swale Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
Authorised Signatory 

 

  
 
 
Signed on behalf of  
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
 

 

 
 
 
Authorised Signatory 

 

  
  
  
  

Page 16



Appendix I 

 

APPENDIX A 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE MID KENT SERVICES 
BOARD 
 
1. To define the strategy for Mid Kent Services and approve the financial 

envelope based on the recommendations of the Shared Service Boards. 
 
2. To initiates shared service projects and appoint project and shared service 

boards 
 
3. To join together strategic plans and form an MKS strategic plan 
 
4. To make recommendations on overarching MKS issues and policies 
 
5. To make recommendations to the individual Authorities about specific 

project/service issues outside of the remit of the project and shared service 
boards 

 
6. To receive reports from the Mid Kent Services Director or Heads of Shared 

Services as appropriate, of any audit reviews concluding with 'weak' or 'poor' 
assurance rating and to be kept informed of follow-up progress. 

 
7. To monitor MKS Performance and Finance referred to it by, and outside the 

remit of, the Shared Service Boards and agree actions to resolve 
performance and finance issues. 

 
8. To review these arrangements from time to time and make recommendations 

to the Parties for improvement. 

Page 17



Appendix I 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

FINANCIAL PRINCIPLES 
 
1 Management of Financial matters which need to be addressed outside 

of the normal budgetary processes. 
 

The reporting process for Heads of Service/Shared Service Managers to raise 
financial matters should be as follows: 

 

 HoS/SSM Shared Service Reporting form in the usual way, including the 
relevant financial performance, on a quarterly basis; the circulation list for 
reports will be extended to include all s.151 officers (i.e. those who are not 
members of the various SSBs) who will ensure that any issues relating to 
financial matters and that need to be brought to the attention of the SSB are 
identified and communicated. 

 

 Following the Shared Service Board, in collaboration with the Mid Kent 
Service Director and Shared Service Board client leads, an agreed summary 
of financial conclusions requiring action at each individual authority will be 
produced by the MKS Support Officer. The s.151 Officer of the Council 
impacted will be consulted for his/her views. 

 

 Each s.151 officer will then undertake necessary discussions surrounding 
matters arising from the Shared Service Board with his/her finance teams; 
and ensure that any decisions required of their authority or action required by 
his/her team is taken to give effect to the conclusions reached by the Shared 
Service Board, or raise and resolve any issue which prevents the conclusions 
reached by the Shared Service Board being progressed. 

 

 The outcomes of these discussions/actions will be reported back to the Mid 
Kent Service Director/Head of Service/Manager by the s.151 officers. 

 
2. Medium Term Financial Planning – for financial decision which are 

within the normal budget setting timetable 
 

The process for the MKS clients and Heads of Service should be as follows: 
 

At the end of May/beginning of June, there will be a collective 
MBC/SBC/TWBC meeting with the Mid Kent Services Director whereby 
authorities will share their strategic planning assumptions and associated 
budgetary planning assumptions. Through dialogue including the advice of 
the Mid Kent Service Director, the authorities will identify an initial set of 
parameters for the future expectations and funding of Mid Kent Shared 
Services. The set of parameters will give an indication of the level of funding 
available/savings to be expected and will: 

 

 State the overall position for each authority and the position for each of the 
services within MKS, to include both pooled and non-pooled budgets.  

 

 Set out the medium-term vision (three to four years) and outline the different 
savings options and their consequences, including the impact on, and 
process for decision-making at, each authority.  

 

Page 18



Appendix I 

 

 The Mid Kent Services Director will then discuss the savings options with the 
HoS/SSM. 

 

 The Mid Kent Services Director will then present the responses to the savings 
options to the SSBs. 

 
The outcomes will be considered and agreed through the decision making 
mechanisms of each authority – with the involvement of s.151 officers in the 
same way as described above for significant in-year budget adjustments. 

 
3. MKS accountant 
 

It has been agreed that the MBS Head of Finance will nominate an MKS 
service accountant, to be appointed on a part-time basis, from one of the 
existing members of staff at MBC. They will coordinate between the three 
authorities and support the Mid Kent Services Director, to include 
responsibility for collating MKS financial performance information for the 
shared services.  

Page 19



Appendix I 

 

 
APPENDIX C 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR ALL SHARED SERVICE BOARDS 
 

Membership shall comprise one director from each partner Authority (or 
approved representative) 
The responsibilities of the Shared Service Boards shall include: 
 

 To agree the service plan for each financial year. 

 To advise on the management of the budgets for the Service in accordance 
with the Financial Principles set out at appendix B including approving items 
of savings and growth to go forward to each partner Authority to form part of 
their annual budgeting process and consideration in setting their budgets for 
the service.  

 To advise the relevant Head of Paid Service (or nominee) on the appraisals of 
the Head of the Service 

 To receive reports on and consider the finance and performance of the 
Service 

 To provide strategic direction as required 

 To provide reports to the MKS Board when requested; when the Shared 
Service Board wishes to raise a general MKS issue or when the service 
underperforms (i.e. fails to meet the majority of targets over 3 quarters); or the 
Shared Service Board wishes to make significant changes to the agreed 
Service plan 

 
APPENDIX D – TEN QUESTIONS FOR PROJECTS 
 
1. Have we selected a clear and appropriate project methodology? 
2. Do we have a detailed project plan, which includes a comprehensive task list 

with reasonable time allocated to each task? 
3. Do we have a risk register in place consistent with the Council’s policy? 
4. Have we clearly identified roles and responsibilities, both for the project’s 

management and individual tasks within the plan? 
5. Is the level of responsibility and extent of role required of each individual 

deliverable alongside his/her wider role? 
6. Have individuals with key responsibilities on the project sufficient 

understanding and experience in those roles? 
7. Do we have the full scope of the project represented at (or reported fully into) 

this Board? Does that include any associated or parallel project? 
8. Has anything like this project been undertaken here or elsewhere before and, 

if so, have we investigated and understood the lessons from that past 
experience? 

9. Have we sought independent assurance on the project management? 
10. Have we arranged a project closure report so that other projects can learn 

from our experience? 
 
 
APPENDIX E – MODEL COLLABORATION AGREEMENT 
 

Page 20



DATED      201_ 

 

 

MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 

and 

 

SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 

and 

 

TUNBRIDGE COUNCIL BOROUGH COUNCIL  

____________________________________________________________ 

 

MKS MODEL SHARED SERVICE COLLABORATION AGREEMENT 

_____________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mid Kent Legal Services 

Maidstone Borough Council 

Maidstone House 

King Street 

Maidstone ME15 6JQ 

Ref:  

 

Page 21



 

Contents 

1. Definitions and Interpretation 

2. Commencement and Duration 

3. Relationship between the Parties 

4. Provision of the Service 

5. Support Services 

6. Head of [ ] Shared Service 

7. The Board  

8. MKS [ ] Shared Service Structure 

9. Service Plan and Budget 

10. Financial Provisions 

11. Relevant Employees 

12. Liabilities and Indemnities 

13. Insurance 

14. Termination  

15. Effects of Termination 

16. Default by an Authority 

17. Default by a Relevant Contractor 

18. Dispute Resolution 

19. Arbitration 

20. Assistance in Legal Proceedings 

21. Data Protection 

22. Freedom of Information 

23. Confidentiality 

24. Scrutiny 

25. Routine Communications 

26. Notices 

27. Assignment 

28. Variation insertion 

29. Waiver 

30. Severance 

31. Third Parties 

32. Entire Agreement 

33. Law and Jurisdiction 

Page 22



 

Schedules  

Schedule 1 – Agreed Service Plan 
Schedule 2 - Service Level Agreement 
Schedule 3 - Relevant Employees 
Schedule 4 – Structure 
Schedule 5 – MKS [  ]Shared Service Pooled Funds 
Schedule 6 – MKS[  ] Shared Service Non Pooled Funds 
Schedule 7 – Relevant Contracts 
Schedule 8 – MKS Governance Arrangements 
 

Page 23



 

THIS AGREEMENT is made on      2016 

BETWEEN: 

(1) MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL of Maidstone House, King Street, Maidstone, 

Kent ME15 6JQ (“MBC”); 

(2) SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL of Swale House East Street Sittingbourne ME10 3HT 

(“SBC”) 

(3) TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL of the Town Hall Royal Tunbridge 

Wells, Kent TN1 1RS (“TWBC”). 

(3) WHEREAS: 

(A)  As members of Mid Kent Services (MKS), MBC, SBC and TWBC (together called 

“the Authorities”) have agreed to create a single combined [  ] Shared Service for 

the Authorities. 

(B) The Authorities now wish to record their agreement on the terms of this Collaboration 

Agreement for the purposes of the management, operation and delivery of the [  ] 

Shared Service. 

( C ) The Authorities agree that the overarching arrangements for the governance of MKS 

are set out in the Governance Arrangements dated [  ] and shown at  Schedule 8.The 

Authorities agree that this Agreement should be read together with the Governance 

Document. 

IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

In this Agreement: 

1.1 the following expressions have the following meanings unless inconsistent with the 

context: 

“Agreement” Means this Collaboration Agreement 

 

"Agreed Service Plan" means the initial Agreed Service Plan at 

Schedule 1. 

Page 24



 

"Authorities" means MBC, SBC and TWBC and “Authority” 

means any one of them. 

“Board” means the MKS [  ] Shared Service Board which 

consists of representatives from each Authority. 

“Budget” Means the budget for the [  ] Shared Service 

"Commencement Date" means [  ] 

"DPA" means the Data Protection Act 1998. 

"Exempt Information" means any information or class of information 

relating to this Agreement which may fall within 

an exemption to disclosure under Freedom of 

Information Legislation. 

“FOI” Means Freedom of Information 

"FOIA" means both the Freedom of Information Act 

2000 and subordinate legislation made under 

this Act and the Environmental Information 

Regulations 2004. 

“Head of [  ] Shared Service" means [  ] or such other officer who holds the 

post of Head of the MKS [  ] Shared Service. 

"Head of Paid Service" means the Head of Paid Service as designated 

by each of the Authorities for the purposes of s4 

of the Local Government Housing Act 1989 Act 

or their nominees. 

“Host Authority” Means [  ] Authority. 

“Intellectual Property Rights" means all rights in patents, trademarks, service 

marks, design rights (whether registerable or 

otherwise), applications for any of the foregoing 

copyright (including rights in Software), 

database rights, know-how, trade secrets, 

confidential business information, trade or 

business names and any similar or analogous 

rights to any of the above whether arising or 

granted under the Laws of England or of any 

other jurisdiction. 

"Law" any statute statutory instrument subordinate 

legislation standard law proclamation order 

resolution notice rule of court bye-law directive 

Page 25



 

code of conduct or other instrument or 

requirement having the force of Law within any 

national or local jurisdiction issued declared 

passed or given effect to in any manner by HM 

Parliament the legislation making institutions of 

the European Union any court or other judicial 

forum any Commission of Inquiry local authority 

statutory undertaking or relevant authority or any 

other body or person having such power. 

"LGPS Regulations" means the Local Government Pensions Scheme 

(Benefits Membership and Contributions) 

Regulations 2007 (as amended or replaced) and 

the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Administration) Regulations 2008 (as amended 

or replaced). 

“MKS Board” means the Leaders and Chief Executives of the 

Authorities. 

 

“MKSD” Means the Mid Kent Services Director 

“Non-Pooled Funds” means MKS [  ]  Shared Service revenue 

budgets retained by each Authority outside of 

the Pooled Fund referred to in clause 10 and 

Schedule 6. 

"Pension Scheme" means the Local Government Pension Scheme 

pursuant to the LGPS Regulations. 

"Personal Data" means personal data and sensitive personal 

data as defined in the DPA which is disclosed by 

an Authority to enable another Authority to 

comply with its obligations under this 

Agreement. 

“Pool Manager” Means the Head of the [  ] Shared Service who 

manages the Pooled and Non Pooled Funds. 

Page 26



 

“Pooled Funds” means MKS [  ] Shared Service revenue 

budgets for staffing and related costs 

consolidated into a single budget held by [  ] with 

contributions from (list all Authorities signing the 

Agreement) referred to in clause 10 and 

Schedule 5. 

"Relevant Contracts" means the third party supply contracts providing 

services to an Authority; and “Relevant 

Contractors” mean the contractors who 

contract with an Authority under the Relevant 

Contracts listed in Schedule 7. 

“Relevant Employees” means those persons employed by (list the 

Authorities) as employees of the MKS [  ] 

Shared Service being the Head of [  ] Shared 

Service and those persons set out in Schedule 3 

for as long as they remain employed as part of 

the MKS [  ] Shared Service and any other 

persons who are employed in the future by (list 

the Authorities) in the provision of the MKS [  ] 

Shared Service. 

"Request" means a request for information made to a 

responsible Authority under the FOIA. 

“Services” means the [  ] Shared Services to be provided in 

accordance with the Service Level Agreement 

and as set out in Schedule 2. 

“Service Period” means the period during which the Services are 

provided under this Agreement. 

“Service Level Agreement” means the agreement to be entered into and/or 

deemed entered into on the date of this 

agreement in the form as set out in Schedule 2 

as may be amended from time to time with the 

prior written agreement of the Authorities, the 

general principles for which are also set out in 

Schedule 2. 

"Software Systems" means the software systems used and procured 

by one or more Authority to enable the delivery 

Page 27



 

of the Services. 

“Transfer Date” means the date [  ] on which the contracts of 

employment of the Relevant Employees are 

transferred from one Authority to another as 

agreed between the Authorities. 

"TUPE Regulations" means the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection 

of Employment) Regulations 2006 

(implementing EC Directives 1998/59/EC and 

2001/23/EC) as amended, modified or replaced 

from time to time. 

1.2 References to any statute or statutory provision (including any EU Instrument) shall 

unless the context otherwise requires be construed as including references to any 

earlier statute or the corresponding provisions of any earlier statute whether repealed 

or not directly or indirectly amended consolidated extended or replaced by such 

statute or provision or re-enacted in any such statute or provision and to any 

subsequent statute or the corresponding provisions of any subsequent statute 

directly or indirectly amending consolidating extending replacing or re-enacting the 

same and will include any orders regulations instruments or other subordinate 

legislation made under the relevant statute or statutory provision; 

1.3 The headings are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the construction 

of this Agreement; 

1.4 Words importing one gender include all other genders and words importing the 

singular include the plural and vice versa; 

1.5 A reference in this Agreement to any clause paragraph or Schedule is except where 

it is expressly stated to the contrary a reference to a clause or paragraph of or 

Schedule to this Agreement; 

1.6 Any reference to this Agreement or to any other document unless otherwise specified 

shall include any variation, amendment or supplement to such document expressly 

permitted by this Agreement or otherwise agreed in writing between the relevant 

parties; 

Page 28



 

1.7 Words preceding “include” “includes” “including” and “included” shall be construed 

without limitation by the words which follow those words unless inconsistent with the 

context and the rule of interpretation known as eiusdem generis shall not apply; 

1.8 The Schedules form part of this Agreement and will have the same force and effect 

as if expressly set out in the body of this Agreement and any reference to this 

Agreement includes the Schedules; and 

1.9 References to "the Parties" shall be to the Parties to this Agreement. 

1.10 The following order of precedence shall apply: 

1.10.1 the terms and conditions of this Collaboration Agreement; 

1.10.2 the Schedules to this Collaboration Agreement;  

1.10.3 The Governance Arrangements;  

1.10.4 all predecessor agreements or arrangements made between the Authorities 

in connection with the provision of [  ] Services by MBC, SBC and TWBC in 

connection with MKS. For the avoidance of doubt, where there is any conflict 

between this Agreement and the Service Level Agreement, this Agreement 

shall prevail. 

2. COMMENCEMENT AND DURATION 

 This Agreement shall commence on [  ] and shall expire at the close of business on [  

] or and shall continue unless this Agreement is terminated by mutual agreement of 

all the Authorities or upon notice given under clause 14. 

3. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES 

3.1 Each of the Parties confirms that it is not and shall not hold itself out as being the 

servant or agent of the other for any purpose connected with the subject matter of 

this Agreement other than as expressly conferred by this Agreement.  

3.2 The intention of the Authorities is that they will work together on a non-commercial 

basis and will attempt to resolve problems amicably and in a spirit of co-operation. 

Page 29



 

3.3 Without prejudice to the requirements of this Agreement, all Authorities will act in 

good faith towards each other and act reasonably at all times in relation to all matters 

arising under the Relevant Contracts and this Agreement. 

3.4 Each Authority shall ensure that an officer is appointed whose day-to-day 

responsibility includes ensuring the efficient and appropriate application of this 

Agreement in combination with the Relevant Contracts. 

4. PROVISION OF THE SERVICE  

4.1 The Authorities agree that: 

4.1.1 with effect from [  ] [  ] will commence the delivery of the Services in Schedule 

1 as a [  ] Shared Service to be continued in accordance with clause 2;  

4.1.2 the [  ]Shared Service will be operated so that each Relevant Employee 

member can be required to undertake work for any of the Authorities, and not 

just the Authority which employs him/her and 

4.1.3  the Services shall be delivered by the Host Authority in accordance with the 

Service Level Agreement (as may be amended from time to time with the 

agreement of the Authorities, the MKSD and the Board and which shall be 

reviewed annually by the Board). 

4.2 The Authorities acknowledge and agree that: 

4.2.1 [  ] shall be responsible for the administration, management, operation and 

delivery of the [  ] Shared Service in its capacity as the Host Authority;  

4.2.2 [  ] accepts no liability whatsoever (including, but not limited to, liability for 

loss, damage, costs or interest) which [  ] and [  ] have incurred or might incur) 

howsoever caused or incurred arising under or in connection with: 

4.2.2.1 any Relevant Contracts entered into by [  ] or [  ] or any other third 

party contracts; or 

4.2.2.2 revenue or capital budgets which are not within [  ] control; and 

4.3 The Authorities acknowledge and agree that in respect of liabilities incurred prior to [ 

date] or during the Term of this Agreement where a material breach of this 

Agreement or default by any Authority and/or any of its Relevant Contractors causes 

Page 30



 

an adverse impact on the provision of MKS [  ] Shared Service referred to in clauses 

12.5, 16 and 17 below, the other Authorities shall not be responsible for those 

liabilities or any costs of or in connection with them, which shall be liabilities of either 

defaulting Authority (as the case may be). 

4.4  Insofar as any issue or dispute arising from the arrangements under this Agreement 

or under any Relevant Contract adversely affects or might adversely affect the 

provision of the Services, the Authorities agree that they shall not commence legal 

proceedings or defend or reach a compromise in connection with the issue or dispute 

or incur costs, damages or other liabilities (other than in respect of the payment for 

goods or services which have been provided by a Relevant Contractor under a 

Contract) without prior notification to the Head of [  ] Shared Service and the MKSD 

and the agreement of the Board (whose consent shall not be unreasonably withheld 

or delayed).  

5. SUPPORT SERVICES 

5.1  Each of the Authorities shall provide appropriate accommodation and facilities for the 

provision of any part of the Service that reasonably requires the visiting of (or working 

at) their offices by Relevant Employees working on behalf of the MKS[  ] Shared 

Service.  

5.2 The Head of the [  ] Shared Service shall be entitled to procure such support services 

or other resources as he considers may be necessary to deliver the Service the costs 

of which shall be treated as costs of the MKS Shared Service. 

5.3 Clause 5.2 does not authorise the Head of the [  ] Shared Service to procure 

additional support services without the prior consent of the Board (and of the 

Authority or Authorities affected) where the effect would be to either increase the 

relevant financial contribution payable by an Authority or incur actual or potential 

liabilities to third parties. 

5.4 Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Head of the[  ] Shared Service from 

obtaining (at the written request of one of the Authorities) any additional external 

resources required for that Authority to be paid out of a different budget unconnected 

with the MKS [  ] Shared Service budget. 

6. HEAD OF [  ] SHARED SERVICE 

Page 31



 

6.1 The Head of the [  ] Shared Service shall report to the Board and receive specific 

instructions in respect of the strategic direction of the [  ] Shared Service from the 

Board.  For day-to-day and operational matters in relation to the [  ] Shared Service, 

s/he will be given direction by the MKSD who will be Line Manager for the Head of 

the [  ] Shared Service.  

6.2  The Head of the [  ], Shared Service shall have the authority and rights to: 

6.2.1 access each Authority’s premises at reasonable times;  

6.2.2 receive any information and explanation considered necessary for the running 

of the Service;  

6.2.3 report to and attend meetings of the Board;  

6.2.4 commit and authorise expenditure in connection with the Service; and 

6.2.5 recruit, employ and direct Relevant Employees. 

provided that nothing in this Agreement will authorise the Head of the [  ] Shared 

Service to incur expenditure over and above the budgets approved by the Authorities 

and the Board. 

6.3  The Head of the [  ] Shared Service will provide the following reports to each of the 

Authorities as well as to the Board:  

6.3.1 a quarterly and half yearly update against the work in the Service Level 

Agreement identifying significant changes;  

6.3.2 budget information as required; and 

6.3.3 any other reports as may be required. 

6.4 The Head of the [  ] Shared Service will provide an annual report to the MKS Board 

about the performance of the [  ] Shared Service against the agreed Service Level 

Agreement and budget. 

7. THE BOARD 

7.1 The members of the Board shall consist of Directors nominated by each Authority. 

Page 32



 

7.2 The Board shall meet at least quarterly in April, July, October and January of each 

year ("Scheduled Meetings").  Any member of the Board may call additional meetings 

("Additional Meetings"). 

7.3 The Head of the [  ] Shared Service and other officers (or their nominated substitutes) 

may attend any meetings of the Board to support its operation at the invitation of the 

Board. The board may continue with a meeting after asking the Head of the [  ] 

Shared Service and/or any other officers to leave the meeting (and in any such a case 

will be under no obligation to inform the Head of the [  ] Shared Service or other officer 

of what is being discussed during any confidential part of that meeting). 

7.4 The Head of Paid Service of each of the Authorities shall have the right to meet the 

Head of the [  ] Shared Service with or without the Board as often as they reasonably 

deem necessary. 

7.5  In considering or requesting funding for development proposals or proposals outside 

of agreed budgets, the Board shall abide by each Authority’s relevant decision 

making processes and will not be entitled to commit any of the Authorities to 

expenditure that has not already been formally agreed by that Authority.   

8. MKS [  ] SHARED SERVICE STRUCTURE 

 The structure for the MKS [  ] Shared Service is set out in Schedule 4 and may be 

revised by the agreement of the Authorities and the Board from time to time. 

9. SERVICE PLAN AND BUDGET  

9.1 The Service Level Agreement in Schedule 2, which will be operational from 1 April to 

31 March, shall be reviewed and updated annually by the Head of the [  ] Shared 

Service. 

9.2  The Head of the [  ] Shared Service shall be given the budget allocation for the [  ] 

Shared Service by the Board by 31 October each year for the following financial year.  

The budget allocation shall be prepared in accordance with clause 10. 

9.3  The Head of the [  ] Shared Service shall prepare a draft Service Level Agreement 

and Agreed Service Plan for the following financial year by 31 December following 

consultation with the Authorities and taking into account the budget allocation for the 

following financial year.  

Page 33



 

9.4 The draft Service Level Agreement and Agreed Service Plan and budget shall be put 

before the Board for formal consideration by 31 January and the Board will approve 

the Service Level Agreement and Agreed Service Plan and budget for each financial 

year by 31 March before the start of that forthcoming financial year. 

9.5 The draft Service Level Agreement and Agreed Service Plan (as further amended if 

appropriate) once fully agreed and approved will come into force and become the 

agreed Service Level Agreement and Agreed Service Plan as at 1 April each year. 

9.6 Any dispute in connection with the Service Level Agreement may be referred for 

resolution under clause 18. 

Page 34



 

10.  FINANCIAL PROVISIONS 

Pooled Funds 

10.1 The [  ] Shared Service Pooled Fund shall apply from the Commencement Date of 

this Agreement. 

10.2 The Pooled Fund established at the Commencement Date shall comprise staffing 

related costs and agreed annual running costs   All costs relating to Relevant 

Employees during the period in which they are employed in the [  ] Shared Service 

will be apportioned and charged to the contributions to the Pooled Fund in a fair and 

reasonable manner.  Such costs shall include, but shall not be limited, to: 

10.2.1 salaries (including other contractual payments and expenses) and 

employer’s on-costs; 

10.2.2 redundancy and any other related payments. 

provided that such costs in respect of events occurring prior to the Commencement 

Date or relating to predecessor arrangements under any previous agreements shall 

not be funded from the Pooled or Non-Pooled Funds. 

10.3 Subject to compliance with any applicable legal requirements, the Authorities may 

agree in writing to:  

10.3.1 establish further Pooled Funds; or 

10.3.2 vary any existing Pooled Funds; or 

10.3.3 introduce Pooled Funds during a Financial Year. 

B. Financial Contributions 

10.4 The Authorities shall agree the methodology for calculating the amount of the Pooled 

Fund and each Authority’s contribution to the Pooled Fund in each financial year.  

This shall be based on the contributions and percentage shares set out in Clause 10 

as agreed upon at the time the Pooled Fund is established updated to reflect the 

transfer of funds from the Non-Pooled Fund to the Pooled Fund. 

10.5 The Authorities may agree in writing to change the methodology that will apply to the 

Pooled Fund (if any) with effect from the beginning of any Financial Year.   

Page 35



 

10.6 The Authorities have agreed that their contributions (and percentage share) to the 

Pooled Fund for the Financial Year beginning 1 April [  ] shall be as set out in 

Schedule 5 as follows: 

MBC:  (%) 

SBC:  (%) 

TWBC  (%) 

Total  (100%) 

10.7 When determining the contributions to the Pooled Fund in financial years subsequent 

to the financial year beginning on 1st April [  ] (“Financial Year”), it is the intention of 

the Authorities, in normal circumstances, to update the percentage share to reflect 

the transfer of any Non-Pooled Funds to the Pooled Fund and apply the following 

principles: 

10.7.1 each Authority shall take its previous year's baseline contribution and add to 

that the relevant inflation factor and any other cost pressure on the relevant 

services, less any local and national savings requirements; 

10.7.2 in considering the baseline contributions in the previous Financial Year, this 

shall be an Authority's contribution as agreed at the commencement of the 

previous Financial Year and any underspends or overspends during that 

year shall be ignored.  Where Pooled Funds are introduced during a 

Financial Year the Authorities shall agree when introducing the Pooled 

Funds what figures shall be taken as the baseline contributions for that 

Financial Year for the purposes of this clause (as though the Pooled Funds 

were introduced at the commencement of that Financial Year). 

10.8 In determining financial contributions for subsequent financial years the Authorities 

will also consider whether it is possible to fund any growth proposals. 

10.9 In the event that the financial contributions of the Authorities to any Pooled Fund in 

any Financial Year (the "new Financial Year"): 

10.9.1 are less than that in the previous Financial Year as increased by the relevant 

inflation factor; and/or 

10.9.2 do not cover cost pressures on the relevant Services, 

Page 36



 

 the Authorities shall negotiate appropriate changes in funding and/or Services so that 

expenditure will be covered by the financial contributions for the new Financial Year. 

Non-Pooled Fund 

10.10 The MKS [  ] Service Non-Pooled Funds (if any), for the avoidance of doubt, shall 

not constitute Pooled Funds.  Non-Pooled Funds (if any) are held outside of the 

Pooled Funds and can be held by any of the Authorities, but relate to the MKS [  ]  

Shared Service and are managed by the Head of [  ] Shared Service. 

10.11 The Non-Pooled Funds (if any) shall comprise those costs as set out in Schedule 6. 

10.12 The Head of the [  ] Shared Service will be the responsible budget holder for the 

Non-Pooled Funds.  No expenditure should be incurred on the Non-Pooled Funds 

without the authorisation of the Head of [  ] Shared Service.  The Authorities should 

notify the Head of [  ] Shared Service within ten business days of any unauthorised 

expenditure that has been incurred.  Any overspends occurring on any Non-Pooled 

Funds arising from unauthorised expenditure will not be treated as part of the 

general provisions for overspends in clauses 10.25 to 10.26 and will be met by the 

Authority in which the overspend occurred. 

10.13 The Head of the [  ] Shared Service will review the expenditure related to the Non-

Pooled Funds the “Non-Pooled Funds Review”).  The Review will identify the 

nature of the expenditure and the related contractual arrangements, if any. The 

Non-Pooled Funds Review will set out the arrangements required to move the Non-

Pooled Funds to the Pooled Funds and the timescales for doing so.  The 

recommendations arising from the Non-Pooled Funds Review will be presented to 

the Board for consideration and approval.  The Review will be completed within of 

the commencement date unless otherwise agreed by the Board.  

10.14 The Authorities acknowledge that at the Commencement Date there are no Non-

Pooled Funds. If the requirement for Non-Pooled Funds arises during the course of 

the Agreement, the Authorities shall agree in writing their % contributions to the 

Non-Pooled Fund  Or  

The Authorities have agreed that their contributions (and percentage share) to the 

Non-Pooled Fund for the Financial Year beginning 1 April [  ] shall be as set out in 

Schedule 6 and as follows: 

MBC:  £ (%) 

Page 37



 

SBC:  £ (%) 

TWBC: £ (%) 

Total:  £ (100%) 

10.15 When determining the contributions to the Non-Pooled Funds in Financial Years 

subsequent to the Financial Year in beginning on 1 April [  ] it is the intention of the 

Authorities, in normal circumstances, to apply the following principles: 

10.15.1 each Authority shall take its previous year's baseline contribution and 

add to that the relevant inflation factor and any other cost pressure on 

the relevant services, less any local and national savings 

requirements; 

10.15.2 in considering the baseline contributions in the previous financial year, 

this shall be an Authority's contribution as agreed at the 

commencement of the previous financial year and any underspends or 

overspends during that year shall be ignored.   

10.16 Not used. 

10.17 In the event that the financial contributions of the Authorities to any Non-Pooled 

Funds in any financial year (the "New Financial Year"): 

10.17.1 are less than that in the previous financial year as increased by the 

relevant inflation factor; and/or 

10.17.2 do not cover cost pressures on the relevant Services, 

each Authority shall make the appropriate changes in funding and/or services from 

their Non-Pooled Funds so that expenditure will be covered by their financial 

contributions for the new Financial Year without impacting on the MKS [  ] Shared 

Service. 

Administration of Pooled and Non-Pooled Funds 

10.18 [Host Authority] holds the Pooled and Non-Pooled Funds. 

10.19 The Head of [  ] Shared Services will act as the Pool Manager. 

10.20 The Pool Manager will be responsible for: 

Page 38



 

10.20.1 Managing the relevant Pooled Fund; and 

10.20.2 Managing the relevant Non-Pooled Fund. 

10.21 The monies in any Pooled and Non-Pooled Fund may be expended on Services in 

different proportions to that in which the Authorities shall have contributed to the 

Pooled or Non-Pooled Fund. 

10.22 The monies in Pooled and Non-Pooled Funds shall be spent in accordance with any 

restrictions agreed between the Authorities on the establishment of the Pooled and 

Non-Pooled Fund or as may be varied by agreement from time to time. 

General Provisions on Overspends and Underspends 

10.23 The Authorities shall use their reasonable endeavours to ensure that the Services 

included in any Pooled and Non-Pooled Fund are carried out within each Financial 

Year. 

10.24 The Head of [  ] Shared Services shall keep the Authorities informed of any 

projection of an overspend or underspend in that Pooled or Non-Pooled Fund within 

10 Business Days of such projection being made. 

Overspends 

10.25 Whenever an overspend is projected in the Pooled and/or Non-Pooled Funds the 

Authorities shall agree how to manage the overspend and shall keep the position 

under review.  The Authorities shall act in good faith and in a reasonable manner in 

agreeing the management of the overspend. 

10.26 If at the end of any Financial Year there is an overspend the Authorities shall 

identify the reasons for the overspend in any Pooled or Non-Pooled Fund (unless 

arising from unauthorised expenditure as set in clause 10.12) and may agree that 

resources in the next Financial Year shall be applied in meeting the overspend.  If 

this is not agreed, the overspend shall be apportioned between the Authorities in a 

just and equitable manner taking into account the circumstances of and reasons for 

the overspend and the Authorities shall make such payments as shall be required to 

reflect this allocation based on the percentage share of their respective 

contributions in clause 10.6, updated to reflect the last financial year. 

 

Page 39



 

Underspends 

10.27 Whenever an under spend is projected in any Pooled or Non-Pooled Fund the 

Authorities may agree to the redeployment of that underspend or that the money 

shall be retained as a contingency in the Pooled or Non-Pooled Funds where the 

under spending has occurred.  In the event that agreement cannot be reached the 

under spend shall be retained as a contingency in the Pooled Fund. 

10.28 Any underspend in relation to any Pooled Fund at the end of a Financial Year or 

upon termination of this Agreement (in whole or part) shall be apportioned between 

the Authorities based on the percentage share of their respective contributions in 

clause 10.6 the Authorities shall receive such payments as are necessary to reflect 

such allocation, updated to reflect the last financial year. 

10.29 Without prejudice to clause 10.28, the Authorities may agree to carry forward any 

underspend in relation to Pooled or Non-Pooled Funds provided that such carry 

forward will be in accordance with any relevant statutory or other legal requirement 

or guidance. 

Other Resources 

10.30 [Host Authority] will provide or make available the administrative services listed 

below: 

 Finance; 

 Any other services as required; 

10.31  These Other Resources will be managed by [Host Authority] providing these 

services outside of the MKS [  ] Shared Service arrangements under this 

Agreement. 

10.32 It is not [host Authority’s] current intention to make any charge for the services 

referred to in clause 10.30 on the basis that the Authorities will be providing broadly 

equivalent services proportionate to the financial contributions of each Authority. 

However [Host Authority] may at any time on giving 6 months’ notice, elect that its 

reasonable actual costs in providing these Other Resources be apportioned and 

charged to the Pooled Funds and any Non-Pooled Funds in a fair and reasonable 

manner. 

Page 40



 

Capital Expenditure 

10.32 The financial contributions in respect of revenue expenditure referred to in clauses 

10.1, 10.2 and 10.32 shall not be applied towards Capital Expenditure. 

10.33 The Authorities agree that, at the Commencement Date it is not envisaged that 

there will be any capital expenditure. If capital expenditure is required during the 

Service Period the Authorities will agree in writing the % share for each Authority or 

the appropriate contribution for such capital expenditure from time to time. 

10.34 The following matters shall be agreed in writing between the Authorities before any 

Capital Expenditure is incurred in relation to the MKS Shared Service 

arrangements: 

10.35.1 the business case, including the on-going revenue and financial 

implications and efficiencies, a feasibility study and a whole life 

costing; 

10.35.2 the capital requirement; the proportions in which it is to be met by the 

Authorities; which of the Authorities is to make the Capital 

Expenditure; and ownership of any newly acquired asset and any 

arrangements for use by the Authorities or third parties and the 

accounting treatment to be applied. 

10.35 Each Authority shall give reasonable consideration to any proposals that incur any 

Capital Expenditure but shall not be obliged to provide such funding. 

VAT 

10.36 The Authorities shall agree the treatment of the MKS [  ] Shared Service  

Arrangements for VAT purposes in accordance with any directions and/or guidance 

of HM Revenue & Customs.  In the event that VAT is or becomes payable then it 

shall be paid in addition to the sums mentioned or referred to under this Agreement 

which shall be deemed to be stated or calculated exclusive of VAT. 

Accounting and Reporting Requirements 

10.37 The Authorities shall ensure that full and proper records for accounting purposes 

are kept in respect of the MKS [  ] Shared Service Arrangements in this Agreement. 

10.38 The Authorities shall co-operate with each other in preparation of accounts in 

Page 41



 

relation to the MKS [  ] Shared Service arrangements in accordance with financial 

rules, regulations and legislation. 

10.39 The Authorities will supply all information reasonably required by: 

10.39.1 persons exercising a statutory function in relation to each Authority 

including their external auditors, Monitoring Officers (appointed under 

section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989) and their 

Section 151 Officers (as defined by the Local Government Act 1972); 

and 

10.39.2 other persons or bodies with an authorised monitoring or scrutiny 

function, including a Council Scrutiny Committee and internal audit, 

having regard to an Authority's obligations of confidentiality and such 

information sharing protocols as shall be agreed between the 

Authorities from time to time. 

Miscellaneous Provisions 

10.40 Expenditure on the [  ] Shared Services can only be incurred with the prior approval 

of the Head of [  ] Shared Service, or one of his/her nominated deputies.  

10.41 The following shall be provided by the Head of the [  ] Shared Service to assist with 

the efficient running of the [  ] Shared Service:  

10.41.1 Monthly budget monitoring reports for revenue and capital 

expenditure, detailing budget, actual spend to date, projected outturn 

and projected variance. 

10.41.2 Performance Reports for the whole [  ] Shared Service and for each 

Authority setting out targets/outcomes, performance to date and 

expected year end performance; and 

10.41.3 Action plans for corrective action when required. 

10.42 The Head of the [  ] Shared Service shall be given access as required to the 

financial management systems and information at [other Authorities’ sites] in order 

to fulfil his obligations as the Pool Manager and the Head of the [  ] Shared Service 

and to any other information that he may reasonably request from each Authority.  

Page 42



 

10.43 [Host Authority] will invoice [the other Authorities] on a quarterly basis for any 

contributions due to the Pooled Fund. These invoices (and others that may be sent 

with regard to their contributions) should be paid within payment terms agreed by 

[Host Authority] and if a late payment is made without good reason then [Host 

Authority] reserves the right to charge interest on the amount due at the Lloyd’s 

base rate applicable at the time.  

10.44 The Authorities acknowledge that any present imbalance between them in terms of 

pension liabilities will be managed for the time being by the Parties’ s151 officers. 

The s151 Officers will bring any significant issues to the attention of the MKS Board 

and propose a course of action following any future guidance provided by Kent 

County Council. 

11. RELEVANT EMPLOYEES 

11.1 The Authorities acknowledge and agree that in relation to Relevant Employees that:  

11.1.1 The Head of the [  ] Shared Service,[  ]is employed by [Host Authority] but 

line managed by the MKSD in accordance with the [Host Authority’s policies 

and procedures. 

11.1.2 The Relevant Employees listed in Schedule 3 have commenced/will 

commence working together as the MKS [  ] Shared Service after a formal 

process of consultation in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 

13 of the TUPE Regulations resulting in the transfer of the other Authorities’) 

employees into the employment of [Host Authority on] [Date.] 

11.1.3 The Relevant Employees at the date of this Agreement are all listed in 

Schedule 3 by reference to the Authority which employed them prior to the 

Transfer Date, their names and their job titles subsequent to the Transfer 

Date. 

11.2 From the Transfer Date each of the members of the MKS [  ] Shared Service (as 

varied from time to time) will or may be required to work on matters for any of the 

Authorities in pursuance of the activities of the MKS [  ] Shared Service. 

11.3 Any employment related costs (including administrative costs) of or relating to any 

Relevant Employee (including for the avoidance of doubt the costs of salary and 

pension, the cost of contractual or statutory redundancy payments, any pension 

contributions required under statute, including any contributions necessary to make 

Page 43



 

good any pension fund deficit or pension payments required by the contract of 

employment or by statute on retirement or redundancy the costs of defending any 

employment or personal injury related claim (including legal costs) and the costs of 

any fines, damages, compensation or interest (including legal costs) associated with 

or relating to any such claims and/or any claims which result from the transfer of any 

Relevant Employee from the non-employing authority to the employing authority in 

accordance with the TUPE Regulations will (unless otherwise stated in this 

Agreement) be considered to be costs attributable to the Pooled Fund for the MKS [  ] 

Shared Service and will be split between the Authorities as set out in Clause 10.6 of 

this Agreement. 

11.4 Clause 11.3, shall not apply to the costs of defending any employment or personal 

injury related claim (including legal costs) and the costs of any fines, damages, 

compensation or interest (including legal costs) associated with or relating to any 

such claims where the claim or part of the claim arose or relates to the actions or 

inactions of an Authority prior to the Transfer Date.  In cases where the claim arose 

or relates wholly to a time prior to Transfer Date all such costs will be met by the 

former employing Authority at that time.  Where a claim arose or relates partly to a 

time before and a time after Transfer Date, liability will be apportioned between the 

former employing Authority prior to the Transfer Date and the budget of the MKS [  ] 

Shared Service in such proportions as the Authorities agree to be appropriate.  

Where any costs are incurred by an Authority which it was not reasonably necessary 

to incur then such costs shall not be shared but shall be borne by the Authority which 

incurred them.  

11.5 The Authorities agree that all new staff employed on or after the Transfer Date who 

are appointed as members of the MKS Shared Service will be employed by [Host 

Authority]. 

11.6 On the date of the termination or expiry of the Services, the Authorities will agree that 

if they are applicable, they will comply with the TUPE regulations at that time in force 

in relation to any future transfer of Relevant Employees.  Where it is possible to 

ensure the continuous service of Relevant Employees this will be the preferred 

option.   

11.7 If any Authority on the termination of the whole or part of the Service chooses to 

organise its future provision of the Services in such a way where the TUPE 

Regulations would not apply and refuses voluntarily to take into its employment the 

Page 44



 

Relevant Employees who would have transferred to it had the TUPE Regulations 

applied, that Authority will be responsible for the whole of the redundancy, pension 

and other costs relating to the termination of the employment of those Relevant 

Employees including any costs awards compensation or fines relating to or arising 

from any litigation brought by those Relevant Employees and/or their trades unions.  

Otherwise the responsibility for the financial cost associated with the redundancy 

pension and other costs relating to the termination of the employment of any 

Relevant Employees including any costs, awards, compensation or fines relating to 

or arising from any litigation brought by those employees or their trades unions will be 

shared in line with arrangements for the MKS Shared Service Pooled Fund. 

11.8 If on the termination of the whole or part of the Services there cannot be a transfer 

pursuant to the TUPE Regulations of some or all of the Relevant Employees from 

one Authority to another as the case may be or to a third party contractor, because  

the way in which the MKS [  ] Shared Service has been organised and/or run 

prevents a transfer pursuant to the TUPE Regulations from either Authority to the 

other or to a third party contractor from occurring, then the liability for the redundancy 

and other costs associated with the termination of the employment of any Relevant 

Employees no longer required by any Authority (including, but not limited to, any 

fines, compensation, legal and administrative costs) will be agreed between the 

Authorities and failing any such agreement shall be shared by the parties in 

accordance with clause 10.1 and 10.2 of this Agreement.  This is subject to a proviso 

that, within six months of the termination of the Services, [Host Authority] shall not be 

permitted to reorganise its staff involved with the Services without the consent of  the 

other Authorities. (which will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).   

11.9 The Authorities agree that upon transfer of any Relevant Employees pursuant to 

TUPE to an employer who is not another local authority that the Authorities will 

ensure compliance with the Best Value Authorities Staff Transfers (Pensions) 

Direction 2007 and (where applicable) the Pensions Acts of 2004, 2008 and 2011, 

the Public Services Pensions Act 2013 and any future legislation, order or direction 

that amends, augments or replaces the same. 

11.10 The Authorities agree that upon a future transfer of the whole or any part of the 

MKS [  ] Shared Service to a third party contractor whether pursuant to TUPE or 

otherwise, the liability for the redundancy and other costs associated with the 

termination of the employment of any Relevant Employees including but not limited 

to any fines, compensation, legal and administrative costs will be agreed between 

Page 45



 

the Authorities and failing any such agreement shall be shared by the parties in 

accordance with clause 10.1 and 10.2 of this Agreement.   

11.11 [  ] and/or [  ] may request the employment liability information as defined by 

Regulation 11 of the TUPE Regulations at any time irrespective of whether there is 

to be a transfer pursuant to the TUPE Regulations within the timeframe envisaged 

by Regulation 11 and [  ] and/or [  ] will provide such information (within 28 days of 

that request to that Authority) to which that Authority would be entitled to receive if 

there was to be a transfer of any Relevant Employees within 28 days of that request 

irrespective of whether there will be such a transfer [  ] and/or [  ] agree to pay the 

administrative costs associated with compliance with any such request save where 

the information is provided by the Authority pursuant to the TUPE Regulations in 

contemplation of a transfer pursuant to the TUPE Regulations.  Further, [  ] and [  ] 

acknowledge that save where the information is provided by the Authority pursuant 

to the TUPE Regulations in contemplation of a transfer pursuant to the TUPE 

Regulations, the Authority may redact that information to ensure compliance with 

the DPA (or any successor legislation).  Further the Authorities agree only to use 

any information provided to them pursuant to this clause 11.11 lawfully and in 

accordance with the DPA and any common law duty of confidentiality that may 

apply and agree to fully indemnify [  ] against all and any losses howsoever caused 

arising from or relating to any breach by them of this clause. 

11.12 The Authorities agree that if they are applicable, they will comply with the TUPE 

Regulations in relation to any future transfer of Relevant Employees.  If the 

Regulations are not applicable, the Authorities agree to carry out such actions and 

enter into such documentation as are necessary and appropriate to procure that 

Relevant Employees whose employment is to be transferred to any of the 

Authorities are transferred on the same terms and conditions as applied 

immediately before such transfer including full continuity of employment and with 

the rights mentioned in clause 11.13 below. 

11.13 The Authorities acknowledge and undertake to use their best endeavours to ensure 

that upon any future transfer of employment of Relevant Employees between the 

Authorities as contemplated by this Agreement those Relevant Employees whose 

employment transfers between the Authorities whether pursuant to TUPE or 

otherwise retain membership of or retain the right to join the LGPS Pension 

Scheme and that the Relevant Employees will where permitted by the LGPS 

Page 46



 

Regulations have continuity of service for the purposes of entitlement to pension 

under the Pension Scheme. 

11.14 The Authorities agree that: 

11.14.1 [ Authority A ]shall be responsible for all remuneration, benefits 

entitlements and outgoings in respect of [Authority A’s] Relevant 

Employees up to the Transfer Date and for those employees from 

MKS [  ] Shared Service who remain in its employment after the 

termination of the Services (including without limitation all wages, 

holiday pay, bonuses, commissions, payments of PAYE, national 

insurance contributions and pension contributions);  

11.14.2 [Authority B] shall be responsible for all remuneration, benefits, 

entitlements and outgoings in respect of [Authority B]’s Relevant 

Employees as up to the Transfer Date and for those employees who 

transfer to it upon the termination of the Services from the MKS 

Shared Service on and after the date of that transfer (including without 

limitation all wages, holiday pay, bonuses, commissions, payments of 

PAYE, national insurance contributions and pension contributions). 

11.14.3 [Authority C] shall be responsible for all remuneration, benefits, 

entitlements and outgoings in respect of [Authority C]’s Relevant 

Employees as up to the Transfer Date and for those employees who 

transfer to it upon the termination of the Services from the MKS 

Shared Service on and after the date of that transfer (including without 

limitation all wages, holiday pay, bonuses, commissions, payments of 

PAYE, national insurance contributions and pension contributions). 

11.15 From the Transfer Date until the date of the termination of the Services (subject to 

payment of the relevant share of the costs in accordance with this Agreement) [Host 

Authority] shall in respect of any Relevant Employee or any agency worker engaged 

in connection with the provision of the Services be responsible for all remuneration, 

benefits, entitlements and outgoings in respect of that person (including without 

limitation all wages, holiday pay, bonuses, commission, payment of PAYE, national 

insurance contributions and pension contributions). 

11.16 Each Authority undertakes that in relation to any transfer of Relevant Employees 

pursuant to this Agreement to which the TUPE Regulations do not apply that it will 

Page 47



 

supply the other Authorities (or other future employer) on reasonable request with 

the information which would have been required under the TUPE Regulations (had 

they applied) regarding the identity, number, age, sex, length of service, job title, 

grade and terms and conditions of employment of any employees who transfer to 

the other Authority together with: 

11.16.1 details of any disciplinary or grievance proceedings initiated by or in 

relation to that employee in the two years preceding; and details of any 

legal proceedings (of whatever nature) brought by such employee 

against them within the same period and of any potential legal 

proceedings which that Authority has reasonable grounds to believe 

that that employee may bring against them arising out of that 

employee’s employment with them. 

11.17 Each Authority shall indemnify and keep indemnified in full the other Authorities 

against all costs, claims, demands or losses incurred by the other Authorities in 

connection with or as a result of: 

11.17.1 a breach by the indemnifying Authority of its obligations under the 

TUPE Regulations or under this clause 11;  

11.17.2 any claim or demand by any [Authority B] or [Authority C] employee 

against [Authority A] (where  Authority B or Authority C is the 

indemnifying Authority) arising out of their employment with [Authority 

B] or [Authority C] before the Transfer Date including for the avoidance 

of doubt any claim relating to inequality in pay where that inequality 

existed before the commencement of the Shared Service and 

continued to exist after but subject always to [Authority A] taking 

reasonable steps to eradicate such inequalities in a timely manner 

when it becomes aware of the same; and 

11.17.3 any claim or demand by one of [Authority A] Employees against 

[Authority B] or [Authority C] (where [Authority A] is the indemnifying 

Authority) arising out of their employment with Authority A before the 

Transfer Date.  

11.18 Each Authority agrees to recognise the trades unions representing the transferring 

Employees after the Transfer Date to the same extent they were recognised by the 

other Authorities before the Transfer Date. 

Page 48



 

11.19 If any Authority proposes to take any decision in relation to a Relevant Employee 

which is outside the terms of the any of the Authorities’ approved employment 

policies, the Authorities agree (via the Head of [  ] Shared Service) to consult the 

Board before that decision is made. 

11.20 Clause 11 shall survive the termination or expiry of this Agreement. 

12. LIABILITIES AND INDEMNITIES 

12.1 The MKS [  ] Shared Service is being provided on a collaborative and not for profit 

basis with the intention that (save as otherwise provided for in this Agreement) each 

Authority shall bear the risks of any losses caused to itself or any of its staff by the 

provision of the Services under this Agreement except in the case of fraud or bad 

faith in which case the defaulting Authority shall indemnify the other Authority against 

claims and/or liabilities in respect thereof provided that all costs and losses in respect 

of the employment of Relevant Employees engaged in the MKS [  ] Shared Service 

shall (save as otherwise provided for in Clause 11 above) be considered to be costs 

of the provision of the MKS Shared Service and will be shared between the 

Authorities in the same proportion as they have shared in the Pooled Funds in 

accordance with clause 10.6.  

12.2  If one Authority requires a reduction in the level of the Services, then that Authority 

shall indemnify the other Authorities in respect of all reasonable losses, costs or 

expenses (including for the avoidance of doubt any redundancy costs or any other 

costs related to employees’ and their legal entitlements) incurred as a consequence 

of that reduction of the Services.  

12.3 Any costs arising as a result of legislative change shall be shared by the Authorities 

in the same proportion as they have shared in the Pooled Funds in accordance with 

clause 10.6. 

12.4 Each of the Authorities shall at all times take all reasonable steps within its powers to 

minimise and mitigate any loss for which it is seeking re-imbursement from any of the 

other Authorities. 

12.5 Each Authority shall retain responsibility (the “Responsible Authority”) for meeting 

all the costs of and in connection with the conduct of any proceedings including 

settlement of any action or claim relating to the provision of [  ]Shared Services where 

Page 49



 

responsibility therefore arises directly or indirectly from any act, omission or default of 

the Responsible Authority and/or its Relevant Contractor whether: 

12.5.1 prior to the Commencement Date of this Agreement; or  

12.5.2 during the Term of this Agreement where the provisions of clause 16 shall 

apply. 

12.6 Clause 12 shall survive the termination or expiry of this Agreement. 

13. INSURANCE 

13.1 Each Authority shall ensure that adequate insurance cover is taken out and 

maintained and notified annually to the Head of [  ] Shared Service in respect of:  

13.1.1 any property held by it for the purposes of this Agreement; and 

13.1.2 Employer’s liability, Public liability including liability for secondees working 

from any of the other Authorities’ premises. 

14. TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT  

14.1 (There shall be a review of the Service (the ” Review”) carried out by the Authorities 

jointly in [ Date] which will report to the Board by [Date]). 

14.3 (Following the Review), any of the Authorities may terminate this Agreement by 

notice (the “Termination Notice”) given to the Board  6 calendar months before the 

date specified in the Termination Notice. Termination shall be subject to the 

provisions of clause 15 below.  

15. EFFECTS OF TERMINATION  

Upon the termination or expiry of this Agreement: 

15.1 The decision to terminate the provision of the [  ] Shared Service shall be taken by a 

co-located meeting of the Authorities’ decision making bodies. Upon the decision to 

terminate, the Authorities shall cease to provide the [  ] Shared Service jointly. 

15.2 Notwithstanding the termination of this Agreement, all Relevant Contracts will remain 

in full force and effect and each Authority shall continue to discharge its obligations 

under those Contracts. 

Page 50



 

15.3 Each Authority shall retain ownership of any capital assets purchased by the 

Authority, except for those capital assets purchased by either authority on behalf of 

the MKS [  ] Shared Service.  Any capital assets purchased on behalf of the MKS [  ] 

Shared Service will continue to be made available for use by the Authorities until 

such time as their continued use and ownership has been agreed by the Authorities.  

Any dispute in connection with the treatment of capital assets may be referred for 

resolution under clause 18.  

15.4 The Authorities will proceed as set out in Clause 11 with regard to the employment 

and/or transfer of Relevant Employees.  

15.5 There shall be a calculation of the increased costs to each Authority (including any 

other loss, liability, damage, claim, cost or expense which would be incurred by the 

MKS [  ] Shared Service by reason of such early termination, to include the costs 

involved in the administrative arrangements to continue to provide a Shared Service 

if agreed by the remaining Authorities) and the Authorities hereby further agree that 

no termination will take effect until they have all agreed how liability for costs at 

termination shall be allocated between them (taking account of the methodology 

agreed in clause 10) and that such agreement has been approved by the Board. 

15.6 Without prejudice to the provisions of clause 15.1, upon expiry or termination of this 

Agreement each Authority will provide to the other Authorities such data within its 

possession as the other Authorities shall reasonably require (to the extent that such 

provision is lawful) in order to carry out their own [  ] function either as a function of 

each Authority on its own or as a shared service between the other two Authorities  

and the reasonable costs (necessarily and reasonably incurred) of assembling and 

providing such data will be treated as a cost of the MKS [  ] Shared Service and be 

shared between the Authorities in the proportions to be approved by the Board. 

15.7 It shall be the duty of all the Authorities to use their reasonable endeavours to 

minimise any losses arising from the termination of this Agreement.  For the 

avoidance of doubt, any liabilities accrued prior to the termination or expiry of this 

Agreement shall be borne by the Authorities in the agreed proportions at clause 10.6 

or as may be agreed and determined by the Board. 

15.8 Clause 15 shall survive the termination or expiry of this Agreement.  

16. DEFAULT BY AN AUTHORITY 

Page 51



 

16.1 Where there has been a Material Breach of this Agreement or a default by any of the 

Authorities (“The Responsible Authority”) or any of the Relevant Contractors which 

causes an adverse impact on the provision of the MKS [ ] Shared Service, the Board 

shall agree such reasonable and proportionate action as it considers necessary to 

remedy the consequences of the breach or default in order to mitigate the adverse 

effects to the [  ] Shared Service to enable the Services to be continued (insofar as 

possible) in accordance with this Agreement.  During the implementation of this 

action, the authorities will act reasonably and proportionately to implement the 

agreed course of action and take whatever action is necessary in order to mitigate 

any losses.  If agreement cannot be reached within 40 working days of the breach 

any party may refer the dispute to arbitration pursuant to clause 19. 

16.2 All costs of and in connection with a Material Breach or default by the Responsible 

Authority shall be the sole liability of the Responsible Authority and shall not be 

shared by or attributable to the MKS [  ] Shared Service or other Authority. 

16.3 Host Authority shall be entitled to invoice the Responsible Authority for the costs of 

remedial action and such costs shall be payable by the Responsible Authority within 

28 days of receipt of the invoice.  Upon receipt of the payment, the monies shall be 

paid to the account of [Host Authority]. 

17. DEFAULT BY A RELEVANT CONTRACTOR 

17.1 In the event that any of the Relevant Contracts shall be terminated or come to an end 

prior to the end of the Service Period, the Authorities shall meet as soon as 

practicable to agree arrangements for the management and/or completion of any 

matters arising in consequence of the termination (including, but not limited to, the 

procurement of a replacement contractor and the apportionment of any payments 

and/or costs).  

18. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

18.1 Any dispute arising under this Agreement shall be referred initially to the Head of the 

[  ] Shared Service. 

18.2 If the Head of [  ] Shared Service is unable to resolve the matter in discussion with 

the MKSD s/he shall refer the dispute to the Board and shall do so no later than 

within 20 Business Days of becoming aware of the dispute. 

Page 52



 

18.3 If the Board is unable to resolve the matter, the Board shall refer the dispute to the 

MKS Board and shall do so no later than within  40 Business Days of becoming 

aware of the dispute. 

18.4 If the MKS Board is unable to resolve the matter then any Authority which is a Party 

to the dispute may refer the dispute to arbitration in accordance with clause 19 and 

shall do so no later than within 40 Business Days of becoming aware of the dispute. 

19. ARBITRATION 

Any disputes or differences between the Authorities arising out of this Agreement 

which have not been resolved in accordance with clause 18 may be referred by any 

Party to the dispute to a single arbitrator to be agreed between the Authorities or 

where no agreement can be reached and having regard to the nature of the dispute 

by an arbitrator nominated by the President or Vice President of the Chartered 

Institute of Arbitrators.  The Arbitrator shall have power to determine the appropriate 

procedure and to make a binding determination of the disputes referred to him 

including an award of costs.  

20. ASSISTANCE IN LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

20.1 To the extent that the institution and defence of necessary litigation arising out of or 

in connection with the provision of the [  ] Shared Service during the Service Period is 

not undertaken by an insurer acting for any of the Authorities it shall be undertaken 

by the legal advisors for such of the Authorities as may be agreed by the Board.  

20.2 All claims or potential claims received by an Authority shall be notified to the Head of 

the [  ] Shared Service, the MKSD and the Board within seven days. 

20.3 Each Authority will provide all reasonable assistance to the other Authorities (and 

their insurers) as the case may be in defending any claims and, if requested to do so, 

each Authority shall provide the other with any relevant information (including but not 

limited to documentation or statements) in connection with any legal enquiry, 

arbitration, court proceedings or hearings in which the requesting Authority might 

become involved arising out of or pursuant to the terms of the Relevant Contracts 

and/or this Agreement. 

21 DATA PROTECTION  

Page 53



 

21.1  With respect to the Parties' rights and obligations under this Agreement, the parties 

acknowledge that the Authorities will be acting as both Data Controllers and Data 

Processors according to circumstance during the term of the Agreement. 

21.2  The Authorities will take all reasonable steps to ensure the reliability and integrity of 

any employees who have access to Personal Data and ensure that employees:  

(i) are aware of and comply both the Authority’s Data Controller duties and with the 

Authority’s Data Processor duties under this Agreement; 

(ii) are informed of the confidential nature of the Personal Data and do not publish, 

disclose or divulge any of the Personal Data to any third party unless directed in 

writing to do so by the Data Controller Authority or as otherwise permitted by this 

Agreement; and  

(iii) have undergone adequate training in the use, care, protection and handling of 

personal data (as defined in the DPA); 

21.3  When an Authority is acting as Data Processor it shall: 

(i) process the Personal Data only in accordance with instructions from the Authority 

who is the Data Controller, 

(ii) ensure that at all times it has in place appropriate technical and organisational 

measures to guard against unauthorised or unlawful processing of the Personal Data 

and/or accidental loss, destruction or damage to the Personal Data, 

(iii) not disclose or transfer the Personal Data to any third party or Supplier unless 

necessary for the provision of the Services and, 

(iv) notify the Data Controller within 3 Working Days if it receives from a Data Subject (or 

third party on their behalf) a Data Subject Access Request (or purported Data Subject 

Access Request); 

(v) a request to rectify, block or erase any Personal Data; or any other request, 

complaint or communication relating to the Authority's obligations under the DPA; 

(vi) any communication from the Information Commissioner or any other regulatory 

authority in connection with Personal Data; or  

Page 54



 

(vii) a request from any third party for disclosure of Personal Data where compliance with 

such request is required or purported to be required by Law; 

(viii) provide the Data Controller with full cooperation and assistance (within the 

timescales reasonably required by that Authority) in relation to any complaint, 

communication or request made including by promptly providing  that Authority with 

full details and copies of the complaint, communication or request and where 

applicable, such assistance as is reasonably requested by the Authority to enable the 

Authority to comply with the Data Subject Access Request within the relevant 

timescales set out in the DPA. 

21.4  The Authorities agree that they shall not Process or otherwise transfer any Personal 

Data in or to any country outside the European Economic Area or any country not 

deemed adequate by the European Commission pursuant to Article 25(6) of Directive 

95/46/EC. 

21.5  The Authorities shall use their reasonable endeavours to assist each other to comply 

with any obligations under the DPA and shall not perform their obligations under this 

Agreement in such a way as to cause the other Authority to breach any of its 

obligations under the DPA to the extent the Authority is aware, or ought reasonably to 

have been aware, that the same would be a breach of such obligations. 

22. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION  

22.1 The parties recognise that the Authorities are public authorities as defined within the 

FOIA and therefore recognise that information relating to this Agreement may be the 

subject of a Request. 

22.2 Each of the Authorities shall assist one another in complying with their obligations 

under the FOIA including but not limited to assistance without charge in gathering 

information to respond to a Request. 

22.3 Each of the Authorities shall be entitled to disclose any information relating to this 

Agreement and the Services in response to a Request save that in respect of any 

Request which is in whole or part a request for Exempt Information: 

22.3.1 The Authority which receives the Request shall circulate the Request and shall 

discuss it with the other Authorities; 

Page 55



 

22.3.2 the Authority which receives the Request shall in good faith consider any 

representations raised by the other Authorities when deciding whether to disclose 

Exempt Information save that the Authority which receives the Request shall retain 

the right to determine at their absolute discretion how to respond to the Request; and 

22.3.3 the Authority which receives the Request shall not disclose any Exempt Information 

beyond the disclosure required by FOIA without the consent of the other Authorities. 

22.4 The parties to this Agreement acknowledge and agree that any decision made by an 

Authority which receives a Request as to whether to disclose information relating to 

this Agreement pursuant to FOIA is solely the decision of that Authority. 

23. CONFIDENTIALITY 

23.1 The Parties shall keep confidential all matters relating to this Agreement unless it is 

already in the public domain or all the parties agree that it may be disclosed and shall 

use all reasonable endeavours to prevent their employees and agents from making 

any disclosure to any person of any matter relating to this Agreement. 

23.2 Clause 23.1 shall not apply to: 

23.2.1 Any disclosure of information that is reasonably required by persons engaged in the 

performance of their obligations under this Agreement; 

23.2.2 Any matter which a party can demonstrate is already generally available and in the 

public domain otherwise than as a result of a breach of this clause 23; 

23.2.3 Any disclosure to enable a determination to be made under clause 19 (Arbitration); 

23.2.4 Any disclosure which is required by any Law (including any order of a court of 

competent jurisdiction) any Parliamentary obligation or the rules of any stock 

exchange or governmental or regulatory authority having the force of Law; 

23.2.5 Any disclosure of information which is already lawfully in the possession of the 

receiving party prior to its disclosure by the disclosing party; 

23.2.6 Any disclosure by a Party to this Agreement to a department office or agency of the 

Government; or 

23.2.7 Any disclosure for the purpose of the examination and certification of the accounts of 

a Party to this Agreement. 

Page 56



 

23.3 Where disclosure is permitted under Clause 23.2 the disclosing party shall ensure 

where practicable that the recipient of the information shall be subject to the same 

obligation of confidentiality as that contained in this Agreement. 

24. SCRUTINY 

 Scrutiny will be the responsibility of each individual Authority.  Each Authority (and 

the relevant committee charged with audit) shall have the right to inspect any 

documents relating to that Authority and to require the Head of the [  ] Shared Service 

to answer any questions raised by them. 

25.  NOTICES 

25.1 Any notice or other communication which is to be given by one Authority to the other 

Authorities shall be given by letter (sent by hand, post, registered post or by the 

recorded delivery service),  or electronic mail.  Such letters shall be addressed to the 

other Authority or Authorities to their normal business addresses.  Provided the 

relevant communication is not returned as undelivered, the notice or communication 

shall be deemed to have been given two Business Days after the day on which the 

letter was posted, or on the same day if received by 4pm, in the case of electronic 

mail or sooner where the other Authority(ies) acknowledge(s) receipt of such letters 

or electronic mail. 

25.2 Any Authority may change its address for service by serving a notice in accordance 

with this clause 25. 

26 ASSIGNMENT 

 This Agreement is personal to the Authorities and not capable of assignment, 

novation or transfers by any of them save to their lawful successors. 

27 VARIATION 

Any variation to this Agreement must be approved by the Board and by each 

Authority in writing. 

28 WAIVER 

28.1 The failure of the Authorities to insist upon strict performance of any provision of this 

Agreement shall not cause any diminution of the obligations established by this 

Agreement. 

Page 57



 

28.2 A waiver of any default shall not constitute a waiver of any subsequent default 

whether or not of a similar or identical nature.  

29 SEVERANCE 

29.1 If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any 

reason, such provision shall be severed and the remainder of the provisions hereof 

shall continue in full force and effect as if the Agreement had been executed with the 

invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision eliminated.   

29.2 In the event of a holding of invalidity so fundamental as to prevent the 

accomplishment of the purpose of the Agreement, the Authorities shall immediately 

commence good faith negotiations to remedy such invalidity.  

30 THIRD PARTIES 

 The Authorities do not intend that any terms of this Agreement will be enforceable by 

virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 by any person not a party to 

it. 

31.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT  

 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to 

its subject matter.  Each Authority acknowledges that it has not relied on any 

undertaking, promise, assurance, statement, proposal, representation, warranty or 

understanding (whether or not in writing) relating to the subject matter of this 

Agreement except those expressly incorporated in this Agreement. 

32. LAW AND JURISDICTION 

 This Agreement shall be governed by the Laws of England and the Parties hereby 

submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England. 

 

Signed on behalf of 

MAIDSTONE BOROUGH  

COUNCIL  

 

……………………………………….  

Authorised Signatory 

Page 58



 

 

 

Signed on behalf of 

SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL ) 

 

……………………………………….  

Authorised Signatory 

 

Signed on behalf of  

TUNBRIDGE WELLS  

BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 

……………………………………….  

Authorised Signatory 

 

 

 

 

Schedules to be completed by each Shared Service 
 

 
Schedule 1  
Agreed Service Plan 
 
Schedule  2  
Service Level Agreement 
 
Schedule 3  

Relevant Employees  

Schedule 4 
Shared Service Structure 
 
Schedule  5 
MKS [  ] Shared Service Pooled Fund as at Commencement Date 
 
Schedule 6 
MKS [  ] Shared Service Non Pooled Fund (if any) as at Commencement Date 
 
Schedule 7 
Relevant Contracts 
 
Schedule 8 
MKS Governance Arrangements 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Mid Kent Services Governance Arrangements
	Appendix I
	Appendix II


